



2025 REPORT

Rehabilitation for all : essential throughout life and for many health conditions



Humanity & Inclusion

Humanity & Inclusion (also known as Handicap International) is an independent and impartial aid organisation working in situations of poverty and exclusion, conflict and disaster. We work alongside persons with disabilities and vulnerable populations, taking action and bearing witness in order to respond to their essential needs, improve their living conditions and promote respect for their dignity and fundamental rights.

Acknowledgements

This advocacy report is published by Humanity & Inclusion (HI), with financial support from the Belgium Directorate-General for Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Aid (DGD).

Several HI staff contributed to the drafting of this report, in particular the members of the Editorial Committee (in alphabetical order): Josefina Bandalan, Aurélie Beaujolais, Blandine Bouniol, Karol Gnimassou, Graziella Lippolis, Gilles Lordet, Fatima Nasser Eddine, Valentina Pomatto, Uta Prehl and Rahma Line Reguig.

This advocacy report has benefited from meaningful contributions by Ivens Louius (President/Founder of FONHARE - Fondation Haïtienne de Réhabilitation), Joseph Martial Capo-Chichi (rehabilitation focal point at the Ministry of Health in Benin), and Popuras Aisu (National Union of Disabled Persons of Uganda).

The external consultant Mickaela Churchill conducted key informant interviews, collected evidence, and drafted the report.

31 key informants contributed to this report by sharing their knowledge and experience.

HI would like to express its deepest gratitude to all contributors, acknowledging not only the quality of their input, but also their constructive team spirit and their commitment to promoting access to rehabilitation for everyone in need, everywhere.

Contents

Humanity & Inclusion	1
Acknowledgements	1
List of Acronyms	3
List of Figures	3
Key Messages	4
Introduction	6
Rehabilitation is an essential health service	7
Rehabilitation in international conventions and frameworks	7
Rehabilitation is needed along the continuum of care	8
Bridging the gap in emergency response	9
Financing for rehabilitation must be increased	10
How can we improve healthcare data on rehabilitation?	12
Rehabilitation is for people of all ages and diverse health conditions	13
What health conditions can benefit from rehabilitation?	14
Childhood and adolescence	17
Adulthood	20
Older age	23
Pathways for improving access to quality rehabilitation and AT across the health system	27
Integrating rehabilitation into health systems: a priority at all levels of healthcare	27
Toward more integrated models of care	29
Increasing the availability of quality and affordable rehabilitation and AT	30
Recommendations	35
Recognise rehabilitation as an essential health service	35
Provide rehabilitation in a timely manner	36
Improve access to quality rehabilitation and AT across the health system	36
Ensure rehabilitation services meet gender, disability, and life cycle requirements	37
References	38

List of Acronyms

AT	Assistive Technology
CBR	Community-Based Rehabilitation
CHANCE	Child-Centred Holistic Approach to a Nurturing Care Enabling Environment
DALY	Disability-Adjusted Life Year
DGD	Directorate-General for Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Aid
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
HEPR	Health Emergency Preparedness, Readiness, Response, and Resilience
HMIS	Health Management Information System
HI	Handicap International - Humanity & Inclusion
IDEC	Intervention for Disabilities in Early Childhood
LMIC	Low- and Middle-Income Country
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
NCD	Non-Communicable Disease
OOP	Out-Of-Pocket
OPD	Organisation of Persons with Disabilities
RHIS	Routine Health Information System
SoHaPh	Haitian Society of Physiotherapists
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
STARS	Systematic Assessment of Rehabilitation Situation
UHC	Universal Health Coverage
UN	United Nations
UNCRC	United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child
UNCRPD	United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
WHO	World Health Organization
WHA	World Health Assembly
YLD	Years Lived with Disability

List of Figures

Figure 1 Rehabilitation along the continuum of care	8
Figure 2 Sources of health financing for Benin, Haiti and Uganda in 2022	11
Figure 3 Global rehabilitation needs, based on the 2021 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study	y.13
Figure 4 List of common conditions requiring rehabilitation, based on the 2021 GBD Study	
Figure 5 Rehabilitation workforce numbers in Benin. Haiti, and Uganda	31
5	

Key Messages



Today, an estimated 2.6 billion people worldwide - or one in every three people - are affected by health conditions that could be improved through rehabilitation. However, these services often remain out of reach for those who need them most. Over 50% of those who need rehabilitation services do not receive them in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).



Rehabilitation is an essential health service that forms part of the continuum of prevention, promotion, treatment, rehabilitation and palliative care. **Rehabilitation is not only for persons with disabilities; it is a necessary health service for anyone experiencing limitations in daily functioning** due to a broad range of health conditions, such as injuries or trauma resulting from accidents, congenital disorders from a very young age, non-communicable diseases (NCDs), pregnancy and delivery complications, as well as chronic diseases or other health conditions associated with ageing.



Rehabilitation has immense potential to improve the health outcomes and wellbeing of people of all ages.

• During childhood and adolescence, timely rehabilitation and AT can greatly help to optimise children's development and functioning and even prevent the development of secondary impairments, enabling them to reach their full developmental potential.

• During adulthood, rehabilitation supports individuals to lead fulfilling and productive lives by helping them maintain their ability to work, care for their families, and contribute to their communities.

• During older age, rehabilitation is a key strategy for promoting healthy ageing and longevity.



Gendered factors shape rehabilitation needs and barriers. Rehabilitation services must not only address gender-specific health needs but also aim to be gender-transformative by tackling barriers to access and promoting equitable health-seeking behaviours and caregiving responsibilities.



Timely rehabilitation, including early interventions and continued care, significantly improves patient outcomes by preventing complications and optimising functional recovery. However, this requires services to be widely accessible, well-known, and thoroughly integrated at different levels of health service provision, especially at primary healthcare and community levels, as well as in health emergency preparedness and response.



Rehabilitation is crucial to achieving universal health coverage (UHC). Despite this, rehabilitation is often deprioritised in public health budgets and treated as a luxury service for the few, not the many. At a time of unprecedented cuts to global aid that are significantly impacting the health sector, combined with a constant low level of investment of domestic financial resources, sustainable financing models for rehabilitation are more important than ever. This requires an increase in public health funding, coordination with external actors, and better monitoring data collection to help prioritise investment.



There is growing recognition of the importance of strengthening rehabilitation across all levels of care to respond to the needs of people with various health conditions, and at all ages. Integrating rehabilitation into primary healthcare helps improve accessibility and continuity of services by bringing them closer to communities in need.



Ongoing critical gaps in the rehabilitation workforce, as well as challenges with regard to the affordability and quality of assistive technology—particularly in LMICs—prevent access to necessary care. Training and accrediting rehabilitation professionals, job recognition, career development, flexible educational pathways, and professional associations can enhance quality and retention. To ensure quality and sustainability, AT provision must be paired with adequate training of rehabilitation professionals to oversee the provision, fitting, adaptation and maintenance of AT.



Ongoing critical gaps in the rehabilitation workforce, as well as challenges with regard to the affordability and quality of assistive technology—particularly in LMICs—prevent access to necessary care. Training and accrediting rehabilitation professionals, job recognition, career development, flexible educational pathways, and professional associations can enhance quality and retention. To ensure quality and sustainability, AT provision must be paired with adequate training of rehabilitation professionals to oversee the provision, fitting, adaptation and maintenance of AT.



Strong, multisectoral partnerships are essential for building effective and sustainable rehabilitation services. Collaboration across sectors - including health, education, social protection and labour - is needed to address the diverse and intersecting needs of individuals requiring rehabilitation and to ensure coordinated service provision.

Introduction

Today, an estimated 2.6 billion people worldwide - or one in every three people - are affected by health conditions that could be improved through rehabilitation,¹ and the needs are continuously growing.

Changing health and demographic trends, including population ageing, are leading to a significant increase in the number of people experiencing declines in functional ability. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that the number of people aged 60 and over will increase from 1 billion to 1.4 billion by 2030, a trend that will be felt all around the world.² Global populations are living longer than ever before, but they are also experiencing more limitations in functioning.³ The average number of years people spend living with disabilities (YLDs), such as musculoskeletal disorders, sensory impairments, heart and lung diseases, and mental and neurological conditions, has also increased from 270 million in 2011 to 340 million in 2021.⁴

Rehabilitation is a "set of interventions designed to optimize functioning in individuals with health conditions or impairments in interaction with their environment."⁵ Not only is it an essential health service needed to achieve universal health coverage (UHC), but rehabilitation is also a cornerstone of inclusive and sustainable development. Both rehabilitation and assistive technology (AT) help individuals to live healthier, longer, more independent lives, delaying the need for long-term care, and enabling them to reach their fullest potential.

The rising demand for rehabilitation services poses urgent challenges for health and social systems,⁶ as these services often remain out of reach for those who need them most. In low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), over 50% of those who need rehabilitation services do not receive them.³ The integration of rehabilitation within national health systems also remains uneven, underfunded, and is frequently left out of emergency response and preparedness planning.⁷ Furthermore, there is a growing shortage of rehabilitation services worldwide, and data on the rehabilitation workforce itself is often limited. The WHO estimates a global shortage of 11 million healthcare workers by 2030, particularly in LMICs, where there are already fewer than 10 skilled rehabilitation practitioners per million people.⁸

This report by Humanity & Inclusion (HI) illustrates how rehabilitation is essential for everyone throughout their lives and for a broad range of health conditions. Drawing on evidence and the experiences of rehabilitation and AT users, service providers and other stakeholders in Benin, Haiti and Uganda, it highlights the challenges and gaps in the sector, as well as successful strategies for integrating rehabilitation into health systems and improving the availability, access and quality of rehabilitation and AT. It concludes with recommendations for better integrating rehabilitation into health systems, and the continuum of care.

Methods

This research draws on primary and secondary data collected through interviews with 31 key informants, primarily in Benin, Haiti and Uganda. Key informants were rehabilitation professionals, local and international Organisations of Persons with Disabilities (OPDs), government officials, and United Nations (UN) agencies. In addition, three testimonies were collected from rehabilitation users in Benin, Haiti and Uganda, who shared their experiences of accessing rehabilitation

services. Finally, an extensive review of evidence and literature was conducted to assess rehabilitation services in the focus countries.

Rehabilitation is an essential health service

What are rehabilitation and assistive technology ?

The WHO defines **rehabilitation** as a "set of interventions designed to optimize functioning of individuals with health conditions or impairments in interaction with their environment and, as such, is an essential health strategy for achieving universal health coverage, increasing health and well-being, improving quality of life, delaying the need for long-term care and empowering persons to achieve their full potential and participate in society."⁵

Rehabilitation often goes hand-in-hand with **assistive technology (AT)**, which includes products, systems and services designed to "help maintain or improve an individual's functioning related to cognition, communication, hearing, mobility, self-care and vision." These range from no-tech to high-tech solutions, including physical devices (such as wheelchairs, glasses, prosthetic limbs, canes, and hearing aids) and digital tools (such as speech recognition, screen readers, or closed captioning).⁹

Rehabilitation in international conventions and frameworks

Rehabilitation is a fundamental component of the right to enjoy the highest attainable standard of health and is an enabler for the realisation of other human rights.¹⁰ The right to health is reaffirmed by General Comment No. 14 on the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), which states the importance of "equal and timely" access to rehabilitative health services. Under the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), Article 26 emphasizes how these services enable persons with disabilities to attain and maintain independence, functional ability, and full inclusion and participation in all aspects of life. It also calls upon Member States to provide and strengthen rehabilitation services and programmes.¹¹

Rehabilitation and universal health coverage

Rehabilitation and AT are deeply intertwined with the achievement of the 2030 UN Agenda for Sustainable Development, in particular Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 3 on ensuring healthy lives and promoting wellbeing for all at all ages, Target 3.8 relating to the achievement of **universal health coverage** (UHC). Under UHC, everyone has access, without discrimination, to quality essential public health services, without exposing users to financial hardship, especially among poorer, vulnerable and marginalised segments of the population.¹² These essential public health services span the **continuum of care** of prevention, health promotion, treatment, rehabilitation and palliative care.¹³

An increasing global focus on rehabilitation

In public health policy, global attention has long centred on reducing mortality and morbidity, rather than on functioning. However, in recent years, rehabilitation has been gaining momentum in global public health agendas. In 2017, the WHO launched its Rehabilitation 2030: A Call for Action, which highlights the urgent need to scale up services to meet the growing demand for rehabilitation, particularly in crisis-affected and resource-constrained settings.¹³ It notes how greater access to rehabilitation services is needed to achieve SDG Target 3.8 and calls for "coordinated and concerted global action towards strengthening rehabilitation in health systems."¹³ It also paved the way for numerous subsequent commitments on rehabilitation, including the adoption of the resolution on Strengthening Rehabilitation in Health Systems by the World Health Assembly (WHA) in 2023.¹⁴

Rehabilitation is needed along the continuum of care

Rehabilitation is one of the essential health strategies that make up the continuum of care, without which UHC cannot be achieved. WHA Resolution 76.6 (2023) urges Member States to ensure the integrated provision of "high-quality, affordable, accessible, gender-sensitive, appropriate and evidence-based interventions for rehabilitation along the continuum of care."⁵ While these services are presented as a continuum, they often overlap in practice.



Figure 1 Rehabilitation along the continuum of care

Graphic adapted from WHO, 2021¹⁵

Rehabilitation is often misunderstood as a "fallback strategy" when preventive or curative interventions fail.¹⁶ However, rehabilitation is not only a reactive intervention for treating health conditions and regaining function; it can also help to prevent the recurrence of certain injuries or health conditions. Therefore, delivering integrated health services often means combining varying degrees of rehabilitation, prevention, promotion, treatment, and palliation tailored to the individual's needs.¹⁵ The timing and the nature of services needed may depend on the cause, nature, and prognosis of the health condition, its impact on everyday functioning, and a person's individual goals and circumstances.^{17,18}

The importance of timely care

Access to rehabilitation services at different stages of the health journey can greatly influence patient outcomes. Existing research on rehabilitation points to the value of **timely care**, including both early interventions (acute medical response) and continued care, to offer rehabilitation users the best outcomes.¹⁷ Timely rehabilitation has proven effective in reducing disability, preventing secondary complications, increasing survival, and speeding up recovery. For instance, research during the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted how early rehabilitation and telerehabilitation for outpatient care helped to reduce hospital stays, improve patients' exercise tolerance, and alleviate shortness of breath.¹⁹

To undertake timely rehabilitation, these services need to be widely accessible and thoroughly integrated at different levels of health service provision, especially at primary healthcare and community levels. Unfortunately, in many LMICs, challenges to providing early rehabilitation include high patient numbers, limited financial resources, equipment, and trained personnel, and ensuring effective referral and follow-up.

Bridging the gap in emergency response

Higher rehabilitation needs in emergency contexts, yet access is even more complex

Emergency situations, such as conflicts or disasters, tend to increase needs for rehabilitation, as affected groups sustain injuries and trauma, as existing needs are exacerbated, or as their assistive devices are damaged or lost.⁷ This surge in demand often occurs in countries already struggling to meet chronic rehabilitation needs. At the same time, health infrastructure may suffer damage and destruction, safe access to rehabilitation facilities is compromised, and the number of rehabilitation-skilled professionals dwindles as some are injured, forced to flee or relocate.²⁰ For example, in Haiti, it is estimated that 40% of health facilities, including the country's main university hospital, a key rehabilitation provider, closed in 2024 due to gang-related violence and the emigration of healthcare workers.²¹

"In many African countries, the integration of rehabilitation is still limited and the perception is generally that, during conflict and disasters, the priority is given to the strictly life-saving medical responses."

Chiara Retis, WHO, Team Lead, Violence, Injuries and Disability Programme

Rehabilitation services are often overlooked in health emergency preparedness, readiness, response, and resilience (HEPR) planning, and many countries continue to view rehabilitation as necessary only for late response or early recovery phases. This is problematic because early rehabilitation is a key determinant for optimal patient recovery and makes emergency health responses more efficient and effective.⁷

To address this gap, rehabilitation must be better integrated into HEPR plans. The WHO recommends developing mechanisms such as surge staffing, specialist training in trauma care, equipment stockpiling, and integrating rehabilitation personnel into emergency medical teams.¹⁶ Furthermore, communities and practitioners need to be aware of these services to make timely use of them.

Mobile clinics and telerehabilitation - a practice worth expanding

The implementation of mobile rehabilitation units has been found to be highly impactful in providing services in emergency contexts and as a way of extending access to remote and hard-to-access areas. According to a 2023 analysis by HI, mobile clinics made up 46% of all identified rehabilitation institutions in Haiti.²² Research by HI with telerehabilitation professionals and users in the Cape Haitien and Ouanaminthe areas found the service to be helpful in limiting travel, reducing healthcare costs, and supporting continuity of care for users who may otherwise be unable to access centres.²³

Financing for rehabilitation must be increased

Public health financing must reflect the reality that rehabilitation is an essential health service needed to achieve UHC. However, one of the main reasons why people fail to access rehabilitation is because they cannot afford it.

Financing rehabilitation is a cost-effective investment that reduces long-term healthcare costs while improving quality of life. However, rehabilitation has been historically deprioritised in public health financing. Many countries struggle to allocate sufficient resources to health services, and rehabilitation is among the most neglected. In 2022, government health spending was alarmingly low in many countries, accounting for just 2.6% of total government expenditure in Benin, 4.1% in Haiti, and 4.9% in Uganda.²⁴ These results fall woefully short of international commitments, such as the Abuja Declaration target of allocating and spending at least 15% of government expenditure on health.²⁵

High out-of-pocket expenses for rehabilitation and AT

Global recommendations indicate that out-of-pocket (OOP) payments should not exceed 15-20% of total national health expenditure to ensure they are affordable and accessible to all. Yet, in many low and middle-income countries, OOP expenditure far exceeds this amount and is the primary source of rehabilitation funding. In Haiti, OOP spending made up close to half (48.2%) of all health expenditure in 2022.²⁴ High OOPs are linked to low government subsidisation, limited social health insurance coverage, the high cost of AT, consultations and care services, and the lack of services in rural and remote areas, which generate higher travel and accommodation costs.²⁶ In Benin, social protection mechanisms are very limited, covering only 8.4% of the population.²⁷



Figure 2 Sources of health financing for Benin, Haiti and Uganda in 2022

Data expressed as a percentage, rounded to the nearest decimal point.

This has major implications for health equity, as rehabilitation and AT represent a **catastrophic health expenditure** (health spending that exceeds 40% of income) for many, especially among the poorest and most underprivileged households. For instance, research indicates that women are more likely to have lower socioeconomic status or lack insurance, which can significantly hinder their ability to access rehabilitation services. This challenge is even greater for women with disabilities, as evidence shows a strong link between poverty and disability.²⁸

Better coordination between sources of rehabilitation financing is needed

Fragmented rehabilitation financing, as seen in many LMICs, can create gaps and inequities in service coverage, significantly limiting rehabilitation's ability to reach its full potential as a core health service. To achieve UHC, rehabilitation services need to be prioritised in public health financing mechanisms and sufficiently funded to meet the needs of the population. Where funding for rehabilitation occurs through government agencies outside the ministry of health and other funding sources, such as external aid actors, effective coordination (interministerial and external) and data-sharing mechanisms are urgently needed to offset the risk of coverage gaps and inefficiencies.²⁶

Amid global aid cuts, complementary financing and public health spending remain a priority

In many LMICs, external aid continues to make up significant portions of rehabilitation funding, including supporting existing health infrastructure, facilitating service referrals, directly providing rehabilitation services and/or funding these services. In Uganda, one-third (27.2%) of all assistive products were obtained from non-governmental organisations (NGOs), while 24.5% were self-made, and 19.4% were sourced from friends and family.²⁹ According to an analysis in Haiti, NGOs managed 28% of rehabilitation centres, and all the facilities surveyed were dependent on external aid.³⁰

Unprecedented cuts to development aid have created an uncertain future for global health. In 2024, several donor countries—including the Netherlands, Germany, France, the United Kingdom, Finland, Switzerland, and Sweden, along with the European Union, announced cuts totalling \$17.2 billion over the next five years.³¹ In early 2025, the United States also halted over 80% of its

foreign aid.³² This loss of funding is poised to affect a wide range of core health services and programmes, potentially leading to higher rates of preventable illnesses and chronic conditions, thus increasing the need for rehabilitation.

Rehabilitation has historically remained low on donors' health agendas, accounting for only a small fraction of overall health aid, and this situation is now at risk of further deterioration. The recent funding cuts threaten not only to disrupt health data collection efforts, but also to undermine broader investments in rehabilitation services, governance strengthening, and the progress made by countries to integrate rehabilitation into national health systems.

Ensuring that a high proportion of funding comes from public health revenues, while channelling nongovernmental funding through sector-wide mechanisms,¹⁶ is more important than ever. Without complementary spending by governments, rehabilitation services are extremely vulnerable when donor priorities shift or interventions end, and this risks undoing progress in global health and wellbeing, disability inclusion and UHC.³⁰

How can we improve healthcare data on rehabilitation?

systems fail to adequately capture information on rehabilitation needs, services and infrastructure availability, expenditure, and quality of care. The absence of globally accepted standards, benchmarks for financing, and coverage targets has also made rehabilitation service reform a low priority in health system strengthening.³³ Without reliable data, governments struggle to allocate funding where it is most needed and effective.²⁶

Governments must invest in the collection of quality, disaggregated rehabilitation data and its integration into national health information systems.³⁴ This entails effective integration into various data streams, such as programme and facilities reports, audits, resource records, and comprehensive population surveys.¹⁶

Applying an intersectional lens to identify and address needs

Importantly, disaggregated data (by gender, age, disability, income level, geography, and migration status, among others) is essential when applying an intersectional lens. It helps reveal disparities in access, coverage, and outcomes, ensuring that rehabilitation services are designed and delivered in ways that respond to the diverse needs and barriers faced by different groups. Without such data, entire populations may remain invisible to policymakers and excluded from services.

Consumer-level data (such as household budget and health expenditure surveys) is also needed to understand how people make decisions about accessing care,^{26,35} including financial and social constraints that may disproportionately affect marginalised groups.

The WHO has developed the Routine Health Information System (RHIS) to help countries harmonise rehabilitation data within their health information systems. As a case in point, Uganda has made significant strides in integrating rehabilitation data. Historically, the country only had data on the number of rehabilitation workers, but not on the utilisation of rehabilitation and AT

services. However, this situation is quickly evolving: the Ministry of Health, in partnership with the WHO and ReLAB-HS, integrated the RHIS and introduced six core rehabilitation indicators into the Health Management Information System (HMIS) as of September 2024. These efforts were accompanied by new data collection instruments, inpatient and outpatient rehabilitation registers, and targeting training for HMIS to ensure data quality.^{36,37} The initiative is expected to greatly enhance data availability, which can be leveraged in strategic planning.

Rehabilitation is for people of all ages and diverse health conditions

Rehabilitation is relevant at all stages of people's lives and has immense potential to produce benefits for people with diverse health conditions. Anyone may need rehabilitation or AT at some point in life, and these needs tend to evolve and significantly increase with age. This could be linked, for instance, to injuries or trauma caused by an accident, congenital disorders at a very young age, NCDs, pregnancy and delivery complications, as well as chronic diseases or other health conditions associated with ageing, as illustrated in figure 3 below.

Figure 3 Global rehabilitation needs, based on the 2021 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study

Number of people with rehabilitation needs throughout their lives (in millions), per health condition group



13



Prevalence of rehabilitation needs across lifespan (per 100,000 people), by health condition group

What health conditions can benefit from rehabilitation?

Rehabilitation is relevant for a broad range of health conditions

Historically, rehabilitation has been mischaracterised as a disability-specific service.⁷¹ In reality, rehabilitation is not only needed to treat persons with disabilities; it is needed for anyone experiencing limitations in everyday physical, mental, and social functioning due to ageing or a health condition, including acute or chronic diseases or disorders, injuries, or trauma.^{72,6} It is also relevant to a part of prevention efforts, for individuals who are likely to experience impairment or disability.⁷³ Because of this, the scope of rehabilitation services is very broad, and applies to a wide variety of health conditions.⁷² Figure 4 below lists some of the most common conditions that may benefit from rehabilitation, based on data from the 2021 GBD study.

"People tend to think rehabilitation is a disability-specific service, but it is not. It is a health service that is required for everybody."

Smitha Sadisvan, Senior Advisor, Inclusive Health Policy, Disability Rights India Foundation

These include interventions such as assessment and screening, therapeutic procedures, exercises, and training, assistive products (prescription, fitting, and training), environmental modifications for better accessibility and independence, self-management strategies and medication.¹⁶

However, the ability for people to access appropriate rehabilitative care for diverse health conditions depends on multiple factors, including workforce availability, quality, acceptability, and accessibility across all levels of care.

Musculoskeletal conditions	Nei co	rological nditions	gical Cardiopulmonary		Neurodevelopmental disorders
Low back pain Fractures Osteoarthritis Rheumatoid arthritis Amputation	Alz dis de Cere Trau	Alzheimer's Ischemic heart disease Autism spectru disease and Chronic obstructive Developmental dementia pulmonary disease disabi Stroke Cerebral palsy raumatic brain injury		Autism spectrum disorders Developmental intellectual disability	
Sensory conditions		Neoplasms		Mental health	
Vision impairment Hearing loss		Cancer		Schizophrenia	

Figure 4 List of common conditions requiring rehabilitation, based on the 2021 GBD Study16,4

The importance of a person-centered approach to rehabilitation

Person-centred approaches are important for the provision of quality rehabilitation services. In practice, this approach means focusing on the individual, and not just on the illness, emphasising individualised care, patient choice, and patient involvement in decision-making.³⁸ Indeed, research shows that the failure to meaningfully involve users in their rehabilitation decisions can discourage participation in these services.⁴⁵

Similarly, rehabilitation services should also be designed to be inclusive of diverse subpopulations, by accounting for gender and life-cycle requirements, and through the active consultation of service users when designing rehabilitation services.

The following section considers how rehabilitation and AT respond to evolving needs throughout people's lives, including during childhood and adolescence, adulthood, and older age. It also looks at how intersecting factors such as gender, age, type of disability or health condition, socioeconomic status and geography impact access to timely and quality rehabilitation services.

Gender and rehabilitation

Rehabilitation, like other health strategy, is significantly influenced by gender dynamics. Men and women often have different experiences and needs when seeking rehabilitation. These experiences are further complicated when gender intersects with age, disability, socioeconomic status, and other factors that shape access and barriers.

Differing rehabilitation needs

An analysis using the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study data from 2021 indicates that while overall men and women have a similar prevalence of conditions that could benefit from rehabilitation (1.3 billion for women compared with 1.2 billion for men) women accounted for more YLDs (180M) compared with men (160M).⁴ Some explanatory factors include longer life expectancies among women, as well as the fact that women face greater hurdles in accessing and using rehabilitation services.⁵².

Rehabilitation is an important, if often underestimated, resource for maternal health, including as part of pre-conception, pregnancy, and perinatal and postnatal care. While significant global attention has been paid to reducing maternal mortality, less attention is given to maternal morbidity. Common impairments and activity limitations that can arise during or after pregnancy include obstetric fistula, pelvic floor dysfunction, perinatal depression, and musculoskeletal disorders.⁵³

"During pregnancy, childbirth, and after delivery, there may be needs that require physiotherapy, for example. However, there are not many physiotherapists here who are trained or specialised in this area."

Anne-Nathalie Brisard, Technical Officer READ OT, HI, and SoHaPh member, Haiti

Gender norms and familial expectations

Gender norms and familial expectations can lead to men and women approaching rehabilitation differently. For men, gendered social expectations around masculinity, such as the expectation to appear strong and withstand pain, may deter them from seeking rehabilitation.

Women, especially persons with disabilities, are more likely to have lower socioeconomic status or lack insurance, which can significantly hinder their ability to access rehabilitation services.^{54,55} Research also indicates that the lack of female rehabilitation service providers is a barrier preventing women from participating in rehabilitation.²⁸ In households with fewer resources, lower priority may be given to girls with disabilities when spending on healthcare.

"We're trying to run an aerobics class for women, especially those who've given birth and suffer from back and pelvic pain, but many can't attend due to domestic responsibilities like picking up children or cooking. They feel pressured to care for others, not themselves."

Night Atwongire, Senior Physiotherapist, Uganda

Besides, women and girls are more likely to bear the burden of caregiving for family members needing rehabilitation. By improving the individual's functioning and autonomy, rehabilitation can alleviate caregiving needs.

Rehabilitation can help foster gender equality by alleviating this care burden. However, greater advocacy is needed to ensure that all individuals, especially those facing intersecting barriers, receive equal priority in health. Therefore, rehabilitation services must not only address genderspecific health needs but also actively tackle barriers to access and promoting equitable healthseeking behaviours and caregiving responsibilities.

Childhood and adolescence

Children and young people are key users of rehabilitation, often with different needs compared with adults. In many LMICs, children and young people also make up a significant proportion of the overall population. In Uganda, for instance, close to 60% of the population is under 18, and 75% are below the age of 35.³⁹ Furthermore, despite the fact that the global neonatal and underfive mortality rate has dropped significantly over the last few decades,⁴⁰ the overall number of children and young people with health conditions that could benefit from rehabilitation services has increased.¹

Childhood and adolescence are critical periods for physical, cognitive, social and emotional growth. The experiences and support they receive during this critical phase can greatly influence their life trajectories and opportunities. Having access to timely, quality rehabilitation services and AT can greatly help to optimise children's development and functioning and even prevent secondary impairments among those with disabilities.⁴¹ Paediatric rehabilitation can help address a variety of health conditions, such as neurological, congenital, and intellectual impairments, as well as injuries.⁴² Such services can also serve to increase their social integration, participation in education, community and recreational activities.⁴³

"If you don't start rehabilitation when a child is small, it becomes harder as their bodies develop. Without proper intervention, they risk not growing in the best possible way they can. Assistive technology also needs to be resized as children grow, and since kids love to run and jump, their devices can break or wear out."

Ellie Cole, Research Fellow, University College London, United Kingdom

Children from vulnerable households, whether due to poverty, rural residence, or even migration status, are at a higher risk of missing out on early childhood care. In refugee and displacement settings, these risks are further heightened because of limited awareness of and access to health services, especially for secondary or tertiary rehabilitation services, which may require travel to another city. The lack of adapted care in the early years of childhood leads many children to develop disabilities and developmental delays with lifelong impacts.

Children suffering from severe acute malnutrition are particularly vulnerable, as undernutrition during critical growth periods can significantly impair brain development, physical functioning, and long-term health. In such cases, rehabilitation should go beyond nutritional support to include **stimulation therapy**, a set of practices aimed at enhancing cognitive and motor development. Integrating stimulation into daily caregiving routines has shown promising results in improving developmental outcomes for malnourished children.

Stigmatisation of disability: a barrier to timely detection and care

Negative perceptions surrounding disability can further impact the use of rehabilitation services. Previous research from Uganda on access to rehabilitation services for children with disabilities highlights the importance of community-based rehabilitation (CBR) workers being culturally sensitive to the challenges relating to stigmatisation and by considering aspects of social inclusion.⁴⁴

"Without enough resources, a child with disabilities is often the last to access health services and other social services that every child is entitled to."

Dr. Fred Kagwire, Health Specialist, UNICEF, Uganda

Rehabilitation is closely linked to children's right to survival and healthy development. This is enshrined in Article 6 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). Under Article 23, State Parties are called upon to provide the service free of charge whenever possible and considering the financial resources of the parents or caregivers to ensure their effective access to healthcare services and rehabilitation.⁴⁶ Despite these commitments, rehabilitation services and AT remain out of reach for many families due to the associated costs. Supportive policies, such as the creation of a National Child Disability Benefit, as recently announced in Uganda, are helpful to offset these costs.⁴⁷

Supporting parents and guardians to advocate for their child's right to health

Parents and guardians play a crucial role in ensuring children have access to rehabilitation, which includes benefitting from routine care and stimulation at home. The case study below illustrates how engaging parents in their child's therapy and connecting them with community resources can help foster an environment where rehabilitation is a shared responsibility between professionals and families.



Case Study: Creating a Nurturing Care Environment, Uganda

As of September 2024, Uganda hosted approximately 1.74 million refugees and asylum seekers from South Sudan, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Somalia, Burundi, Sudan and other nationalities. Children made up 57% of this population, with 40%

under the age of 12. Many of these children live in settlements where timely access to healthcare

is difficult.⁴⁸ Yet, an estimated 63% of children under five in the country were at risk of not reaching their development potential, with this being indicative of high rehabilitation needs.⁴⁹

Humanity & Inclusion (HI) is implementing the Child-Centred Holistic Approach to a Nurturing Care Enabling Environment (CHANCE) project in Terego District, in the Imvepi and Rhino Camp settlements. Funded by Belgium's Directorate-General for Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Aid (DGD) and running from 2022-2026, project integrates paediatric rehabilitation with responsive caregiving and inclusive education strategies to optimise development among children with disabilities, from infancy to adolescence.

A core component of the CHANCE project is its intensive support for parents of children identified with disabilities or developmental delays. Families receive assistance through home visits and parent groups on care techniques specific to children with disabilities, while social workers offer follow-up support to help families navigate healthcare and rehabilitation services effectively and raise awareness within the community. The project also establishes structured pathways for children to access functional rehabilitation services.

To increase accessibility, four child development and wellbeing centres have been established within host and refugee communities. These centres bring rehabilitation services closer to families, reducing logistical barriers to care. Additionally, 35 village health teams and community-based volunteers have been trained on early identification and rehabilitation. As a result, caregivers are more confident in managing their children's conditions and advocating for their rights. Many families that previously faced stigma and isolation now feel empowered to seek community support.



Temia's experience : a caregiver's journey through rehabilitation, Uganda

Temia Keren is a 32-year-old woman from Uganda living in a refugee settlement in Terego District, Uganda. She is a single mother of two children, Alvin, a 3-year-old with cerebral palsy, and Baker, a 1-year-old with developmental delays and a partial



visual impairment..

"CBT has transformed the way I approach caregiving and given me the emotional strength to continue supporting my children. I am more patient, and I communicate better with my children."

Temia and HI Staff during a home visit ©HI

Before receiving support, Temia faced immense challenges. As a single, umemployed mother, the family was struggling financially and emotionally. Alvin had difficulties walking, speaking, and holding up his head, and Baker had difficulty with vision and mobility. With no knowledge of

rehabilitation services and limited support due to the stigmatisation of disability in her community, Temia felt isolated and overwhelmed.

Her journey toward receiving support began when she was introduced to the rehabilitation services under Humanity & Inclusion (HI)'s CHANCE project. The team provided physiotherapy for Alvin, helping him improve his mobility, and occupational therapy for Baker, teaching her how to help him cope with his visual impairment. She also joined a Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) caregivers' group, which equipped her with tools to better manage the stress of parenting and to support her children's development.

This has had numerous positive impacts on her life. Alvin has started to communicate using gestures and is learning to walk, while Baker has improved his ability to engage with his surroundings. Temia now feels more hopeful and capable, and her bond with her children has strengthened. However, she still faces challenges, including the financial strain of supporting two children with disabilities and the logistical difficulties of accessing services.

"The rehabilitation centre was far. I don't always have money for transport. Sometimes, I missed therapy sessions because I couldn't afford to go."

Temia hopes to see more trained rehabilitation professionals in her local health centre, and for it to be expanded to include play areas to better accommodate families with small children.

Adulthood

Rehabilitation supports wage-earners and households to lead fulfilling and productive lives

Rehabilitation plays an important role during adulthood, a time when individuals are at their most productive, actively contributing to the workforce, supporting their households, and providing care for their families. Injuries, illnesses and impairments can severely disrupt adults' ability to provide for themselves and their dependents, impacting their households as well as their communities.

Common conditions requiring rehabilitation in adults include musculoskeletal disorders (especially low back pain), work-related injuries, maternal health concerns, or mental health conditions affecting employment and daily living. Rehabilitation can also aid those with sensory impairments, like vision or hearing loss, or progressive conditions, such as multiple sclerosis, in maintaining autonomy. Injuries resulting from workplace hazards, violence, and road traffic crashes further contribute to the demand for rehabilitative services.¹⁷ Injuries and violence contribute to approximately 10% of all YLDs, with many survivors sustaining temporary or long-term impairments requiring rehabilitation.⁵⁰

Rehabilitation following workplace accidents

According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), over 395 million workers worldwide sustained non-fatal work injuries in 2019, contributing to 90.22 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs).⁵¹ Occupational risk factors, including workplace injuries, long working hours, and ergonomic strain from sedentary work, are among the leading contributors to disability. Younger men are more prone to workplace injuries and fatalities, as young workers often struggle to secure decent work and face a higher risk of accidents due to inexperience or unsafe conditions.

Rehabilitation plays a key role in workplace injury recovery, enabling individuals to regain functional capacity and reintegrate into the workforce. Occupational therapy can help individuals adapt their environments or job tasks to accommodate their needs, ensuring that they can continue working safely and effectively.

Challenges to accessing rehabilitation

Access to rehabilitation remains a challenge for many working-age adults. In many countries, rehabilitation funding is fragmented, with different ministries (such as social services, education, and defence) offering limited support for specific groups. Employer-based coverage also generally excludes informal workers, self-employed people, and those in precarious employment. Health insurance coverage often does not fully support rehabilitative services, leaving many individuals to finance care out of pocket. For instance, a 2018 study in Cotonou and Abomey found that only 12.9% of road crash victims had health insurance, and just 1.9% received any insurance coverage for their medical expenses. The majority (85.1%) paid for their care themselves, sometimes relying on donations from social networks.²⁷

Unfortunately, many people who acquired impairments and disabilities at an early age but, due to a lack of awareness or access to rehabilitative care, did not seek out or continue care, experience a worsening of their condition or development of comorbidities throughout their adult years.



Jesulène's experience: Recovering after a stroke, Haiti

Jesulène is a 41-year-old woman and stroke survivor living in a poor urban settlement in Haiti. Last year, she suffered a stroke that left her with paralysis on the right side of her body. As a result, she has mobility issues and struggles with walking, climbing

steps, bathing, and dressing independently. Since she is right-handed, losing the ability to use her right hand has made it difficult to carry out many daily tasks. Despite these challenges, she remains hopeful that she will one day regain full motor control. Reflecting on the impact of her condition, she says :

"I used to be very involved in my church's activities. They came to visit me and invited me to several events they had organised, but I was the one who didn't want to go. I'm waiting to fully recover before participating."



Jesulène in front of the rehabilitation centre (FONHARE) ©Anne Brisard / HI

Before her stroke, Jesulène worked as a food market vendor and was the family's primary breadwinner. Now, with only her husband working, their financial difficulties have increased. Her parents have moved in to help care for her and the household.

Her family was already familiar with rehabilitation, as her youngest daughter had motor delays and underwent physiotherapy to learn how to walk. She is currently undergoing rehabilitation and occupational therapy at the Fondation Haïtienne de Réhabilitation (FONHARE). However, access to the centre can be challenging, especially during the rainy season.

"When I had my stroke, we didn't hesitate to seek care, despite our finances not being in the best shape. We managed to organize ourselves and also received a discount from the centre. My husband rides a motorbike, so he takes me to therapy, and fortunately, I don't live too far from the centre."

Jesulène is determined to regain her independence. She dreams of getting back on her feet and resuming her church activities, including mission trips to other cities, restarting her market business and providing for her family again, and caring for her children as she once did.

She also hopes to see more trained rehabilitation professionals and better services in public hospitals, so that people like her can receive the care they need without financial or logistical barriers.

Older age

Older people have the greatest rehabilitation needs

As global populations age, the demand for rehabilitation is increasing. Older individuals have the highest needs for rehabilitation, yet they face the greatest challenges in accessing it. By 2030, the global population aged 60 and older is expected to rise by 56%, reaching 1.4 billion, or approximately one in six people.⁵⁶ The most significant demographic shifts will occur in LMICs, where two-thirds of the world's older population will reside by 2050.¹⁷

Ageing is accompanied by natural declines in functioning, including declines in physical and cognitive functioning, reduced musculoskeletal strength, and a higher vulnerability to injury and experiencing multiple health conditions at once (comorbidity).⁵⁷ Widely available rehabilitation services are therefore critical to enable health systems to effectively respond to older populations' health needs.¹⁷

Chronic, non-communicable diseases (NCDs) are on the rise, with implications for healthy ageing

The global rise in non-communicable diseases (NCDs) is reshaping health priorities, particularly for older populations. Alongside demographic shifts, an **epidemiological transition** is occurring, with NCDs, including cardiovascular diseases, cancer, stroke, chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes, and neurological conditions, such as dementia, becoming the predominant health concerns in all countries.⁵⁸

While increasing life expectancy is a major human development achievement, rising from 66.8 years in 2000 to 73.1 years in 2019, there is a widening gap between life expectancy and healthy life expectancy, particularly among women.^{58,59} Many individuals now spend a significant portion of their later years experiencing illness or disability. In 2021, NCDs accounted for nearly **60% of all YLDs** among those aged 55 and older. The most common causes included cardiovascular disease, cancer, musculoskeletal disorders, mental and neurological conditions, diabetes, kidney disease, and chronic respiratory diseases.⁶⁰ Although men are likely to die earlier from an NCD, women experience more years in ill health and disability compared with men, due to longer life expectancies.⁵⁸

Rehabilitation is essential for managing NCD-related disability by improving function, reducing pain, and preventing further deterioration. For example, physical rehabilitation supports recovery after strokes or cardiovascular events. For individuals with neurological conditions such as dementia or Parkinson's disease, rehabilitation may involve assistive devices along with occupational, physical, or speech therapy, depending on the specific impairments. Given that NCDs become more prevalent with age, and that older people are also more likely to experience **comorbidity**, this further underscores the need for **integrated rehabilitation services**.

Significant barriers to rehabilitation access remain for older people

Despite being the age group with the greatest need for rehabilitation and AT, older individuals face significant **barriers** that prevent them from accessing these services.

Financial barriers

While NCDs are likely to generate high OOPs for all age groups, households containing elderly members are more likely to face catastrophic and impoverishing health payments. This burden is particularly severe for lower-income populations, where the financial strain of medical costs is more significant.^{61,62} In some cases, coverage for rehabilitation is tied to employment-based insurance, which many older people no longer have. Similarly, weak public pension systems may also contribute to financial vulnerability.⁶³ Women face even greater financial risks in old age due to lifelong disparities in earnings, unpaid caregiving roles, and persistent gender pay gaps.

"For an elderly person, the stigma of having a disability further complicates their situation. It affects their ability to participate in daily activities and social interactions, preventing them from connecting with their peers. They become more dependent on their children for support as a result."

Esther Kyozira, Chief Executive Officer, National Union of Disabled Persons of Uganda, Uganda

Structural barriers

Older individuals are often excluded from targeted health interventions. Many health programmes, including for rehabilitation and AT, prioritise maternal, child, and working-age populations, leaving older adults overlooked in resource allocation and policy planning. A 2024 scoping review found that rehabilitation for those aged 50+ mainly focuses on functional assessment, exercise, psychological support, and self-management. However, essential elements like environmental adaptations and assistive technologies, which are key for older people's independence and comfort, were more frequently overlooked.⁶⁴ Additionally, the lack of age-disaggregated data in many health datasets results in gaps in understanding and addressing the specific rehabilitation needs of older people.⁵⁸

Social norms and negative perceptions of older adults

There is no age limit to benefiting from rehabilitation. Rehabilitation at any stage of life can enhance quality of life and help prevent further decline. There is considerable evidence demonstrating the benefit of rehabilitation in enhancing the independence of older people, while decreasing the need for hospitalisation.^{17,65,66,67}

Negative perceptions and underlying assumptions about older individuals continue to pose significant obstacles to effective care.⁶⁸ Ageism in healthcare settings can result in older individuals being less likely to be referred for rehabilitation due to assumptions about their ability

to recover. Misconceptions that rehabilitation is less effective for older people, or that functional decline is an inevitable part of ageing, can prevent timely interventions.^{2,69}

Rehabilitation is a key strategy for promoting healthy ageing and longevity, and the UN Decade of Healthy Ageing

The **UN Decade of Healthy Ageing** emphasizes the need for stronger policies and investment in rehabilitation to support ageing populations worldwide. Ensuring that rehabilitation remains a central component of health systems will be vital for promoting **healthy ageing**, reducing long-term healthcare costs, and enabling older individuals to lead fulfilling and independent lives. Looking ahead to the **Fourth High-Level Meeting on NCDs in September 2025**, it is also critical to consider the intersection of ageing, NCDs, and rehabilitation in both public health policy and interventions, including as part of humanitarian response and assisted living and long-term care systems.⁷⁰



Souleyman's experience: Regaining mobility through a prosthesis and physical therapy, Benin

Souleyman, a 60-year-old man and road crash survivor from Cotonou, Benin, faced significant challenges before receiving support. His injury severely affected his

mobility, making walking, climbing stairs, and dressing difficult. These limitations significantly impacted his employment situation :



"It is because of my disability that I can no longer work as an auto painter. Reskilling is difficult, and I also struggled to access financial aid."

Souleyman (right) with an HI staff member $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ HI

Souleyman faced long delays in accessing his leg prosthesis, waiting over six months due to rehabilitation service backlogs. However, after receiving a prosthetic limb through Humanity &

Inclusion (HI) and undergoing physiotherapy, which helped him adjust to the new device, he experienced significant improvements in his mobility. He remarked that the full coverage of costs made this support accessible to him, as he would not have been able to afford it on his own.

"They provided me with psychological support and guided me in assembling the necessary documents to access aid from the government and its partners, such as HI. This allowed me to receive a prosthesis and physiotherapy follow-up to learn how to use it properly." Reflecting on the support he received, Souleyman is particularly grateful to the community-based rehabilitation centre at the One-Stop Social Protection Desk (Guichet Unique de Protection Sociale) in Wologuèdé.

Despite initial frustration with having to do rehabilitation sessions before he could fully use the prosthesis, Souleyman now understands the importance of this process for proper use and maintenance of the prosthesis. He also feels more comfortable moving around, and people no longer stare at him with curiosity, which has greatly improved his self-esteem.

"Having a leg prosthesis is a luxury in Benin, while many poor people need one. I urge the government to subsidize the production of prostheses and to build more rehabilitation centres."

Souleyman is currently seeking government financial assistance to start a small business selling frozen products. He advocates for increased access to prostheses for others.

Pathways for improving access to quality rehabilitation and AT across the health system

Understanding that rehabilitation is essential for individuals across their lifespan and with a wide range of health conditions underscores its fundamental role within a responsive and inclusive health system. This recognition sets the stage for exploring how access to quality rehabilitation and assistive technology (AT) can be strengthened across all levels of care. The following chapter examines the pathways and strategies needed to integrate rehabilitation and AT into health systems more effectively, ensuring that these services and products are available, accessible, and aligned with the diverse needs of populations worldwide.

Integrating rehabilitation into health systems: a priority at all levels of healthcare

There is growing recognition of the importance of strengthening rehabilitation across all levels of care to respond to the needs of people with various health conditions, and at all ages. The Declaration of Astana (2018) acknowledges the link between rehabilitation and a continuum of care, particularly in the provision of primary healthcare.⁷⁴ The **WHO's Rehabilitation 2030 initiative** and WHA Resolution 76.6 (2023) underscore the importance of scaling up rehabilitation services across all levels of healthcare, from primary to tertiary.¹³ The WHO has developed a framework to illustrate the types of rehabilitation and care settings.⁷⁵

Informal and Self-Directed Care Non-professional care provided without health personnel, often in everyday environments like homes, schools, parks, and community centres.

Community-Delivered Rehabilitation Secondary-level care provided in community settings during sub-acute and long-term phases, including homes, schools, and workplaces.

Primary Healthcare Rehabilitation Rehabilitation integrated into primary care, serving as the first point of contact within the health system, delivered in primary health centres and some community settings.

Secondary/Tertiary Care Rehabilitation Integrated into medical specialties, this supports less complex needs during acute and sub-acute phases, typically in hospitals or clinics.

Specialized, High-Intensity Rehabilitation Tertiary-level care for individuals with complex needs, often delivered in long-term rehabilitation centres during acute or sub-acute phases.

The need to scale up rehabilitation, including at the primary and community healthcare levels

Integrating rehabilitation into primary healthcare helps improve accessibility and continuity of services for people of all ages and with diverse health conditions, by bringing them closer to communities in need. Primary healthcare workers, such as nurses, general practitioners and community workers, are often the first point of contact for diagnosing most health conditions, identifying functional limitations, and referring individuals to more specialised care. They are also well-positioned to address common conditions like back pain or postpartum complications and to monitor and adjust care plans for ongoing recovery.³⁴

"When we talk about primary health care, we're meaning services at the local level. That's where people live, work, spend time and seek healthcare. We urgently need providers delivering rehabilitation in primary care and within community settings, —and having the competencies to do it effectively."

Technical Advisor, Rehabilitation Programme, WHO

Although some rehabilitation needs can be met at the primary healthcare and community levels, rehabilitation is currently highly concentrated within secondary, tertiary, and specialised services, rather than being fully integrated into health systems, particularly in LMICs.^{34,76} Access to AT is also frequently absent in primary healthcare settings and care packages. Where it does exist, affordability and quality are often a challenge.³⁴ In Uganda, for instance, only 4.5% of people in need have access to an assistive product, with access disparities particularly affecting women and rural communities.²⁹ In some low-income countries, access to AT is as low as 3%.⁷⁷

In many low-income countries, specialists at the secondary and tertiary levels of care are present but often in limited numbers, primarily based in urban centres. In Haiti, insecurity and conflict have also led to the closure of health institutions and the departure of healthcare professionals. According to a mapping conducted by HI in 2023, 93 of Haiti's 141 communes (local districts) had no rehabilitation institutions, consequently restricting access to services, particularly for poor and rural populations.²²

"Not all existing services are operational due to a shortage of rehabilitation professionals. They are sometimes overwhelmed, forcing them to postpone appointments for several patients. This discourages patients, some of whom choose not to return."

Joseph Martial Capo-Chichi, Rehabilitation Promotion and Development Division, Ministry of Health, Benin

To address this issue, the WHO recommends a step-wise process beginning by setting up rehabilitation services in major primary healthcare settings or lower-level secondary centres, followed by the training of primary healthcare workers (including doctors, nurses and community health workers) to identify and assess their patients' rehabilitation needs. and either provide rehabilitation themselves or refer them to the appropriate specialist.¹⁶ To that effect, the **WHO's Basic Rehabilitation Package** outlines a set of low-cost, high-impact, interventions for rehabilitation to prioritise in primary healthcare, particularly in low-income contexts.⁷⁸

Toward more integrated models of care

To provide holistic care that addresses a person's physical, social, emotional, environmental and functional needs, rehabilitation interventions often require multiple interacting components and diverse professionals. For instance, interventions may target physical aspects such as mobility and strength, while also addressing the social and emotional wellbeing of the individual and the caregiver, and adapting the living environment.⁷⁹

However, the fragmentation of rehabilitation service provision in many LMICs, due to fragmented governance, reliance on non-state actors, combined with inadequate coordination across institutions, service levels and care types,⁸⁰ and gaps in referral systems, greatly impedes the effective delivery of care.⁷⁶

The value of interdisciplinary teams

Interdisciplinary teams, which may combine physiotherapists, occupational therapists, nurses, community healthcare workers and other allied health providers, are a critical component of integrated rehabilitation service models. Depending on the individual health conditions, allied health providers may be paediatricians, neurologists, geriatrists, gynaecologists, etc. These teams improve patient outcomes by tailoring person-centred, interdisciplinary care plans that address the unique needs of individuals across a range of health conditions and ages, as illustrated in the case study from Benin below.

Furthermore, research on interdisciplinary care teams has shown their relevance for increasing access to secondary and tertiary level rehabilitation, particularly in LMICs.⁸¹ Such interdisciplinary service models have the potential to be further strengthened using agreements on interdisciplinary collaboration agreements and governance mechanisms, including guidelines and protocols (particularly to strengthen referral pathways), as well as interprofessional education.⁸¹



Case Study: Enhancing person-centred care through interdisciplinary rehabilitation, Benin

Road crashes are responsible for a high number of injuries and impairments in Benin, yet access to rehabilitation remains limited due to an uneven distribution of services, financial barriers, and a shortage of trained professionals. In 2019, it was estimated that 80% of road crash victims

developed a motor impairment.⁸³ Without timely and appropriate rehabilitation, many survivors face long-term functional impairments that reduce their independence and quality of life.

Responding to these challenges, Humanity & Inclusion (HI) launched the "Integrated Readaptation" Project. Running from (2022 to 2026) in Cotonou, Ouidah, and Abomey-Calavi, this initiative aimed to strengthen rehabilitation services for road traffic victims through a person-centred approach and interdisciplinary care.

Effective rehabilitation goes beyond physical healing; it requires coordination across multiple disciplines to address the full spectrum of a patient's recovery. This project brought together specialists in physical and rehabilitation medicine, physiotherapists, prosthetists, mental health professionals, and social workers, to define a therapeutic plan for each beneficiary. Reflecting on the person-centred approach, Maurille Tognon, Project Manager for HI Benin, writes :

"For one of our beneficiaries, who is a double limb amputee, the multidisciplinary team initially suggested purchasing a wheelchair, but then opted to create two prostheses after speaking with the patient and seeking their opinion on the available options."

In total, 65 healthcare providers were trained in interdisciplinary rehabilitation approaches. Additionally, 12 community-based rehabilitation (CBR) workers received specialised training in psychosocial support. 192 patients, identified by the One-Stop Social Protection Desks and the Federation of Disabled People of Benin, benefited from interdisciplinary rehabilitation assessments, and 80 individuals engaged in structured rehabilitation programmes.

By scaling up the capacity of interdisciplinary rehabilitation teams and addressing the physical, emotional, and social dimensions of rehabilitation, survivors regained greater independence and participation in daily life. However, ensuring the sustainability and scalability of these efforts requires ongoing investment and policy integration.

Increasing the availability of quality and affordable rehabilitation and AT

Addressing gaps in the rehabilitation workforce

The WHO recommends at least five prosthetics and orthotics professionals per million people, but even high-income countries fall short, while LMICs have fewer than 10% of the required professionals. While there is no agreed minimum for physiotherapists, rehabilitation doctors or speech therapists, shortages are particularly acute in LMICs. For example, some African countries have no speech and language therapists, while high-income nations have over 300 per million.⁸⁴

Addressing workforce shortages is not only essential for expanding coverage but also represents a relatively **low-cost**, **high-impact investment**. In Haiti, for instance, the funding required to train

enough prosthetist-orthotists was estimated at just 0.54% of the health ministry's budget.³⁰ To help address geographic imbalances, it is crucial to strengthen decentralised models of care, such as building the capacity of primary healthcare and community health workers, along with providing incentives for rehabilitation workers to practice in rural and remote areas.³⁴

Figure 5 Rehabilitation workforce numbers in Benin, Haiti, and Uganda

Haiti

Uganda

In 2023, there were a total of 677 dedicated rehabilitation professionals, with most situated in the North and West departments. Less than 10% are involved in the making and repair of protheses and orthoses.²² In 2022, the existing rehabilitation workforce was estimated at 344. Of these, more than half (56%) were orthopaedic practitioners and technologists, with very low numbers in other professions, and no rehabilitation physicians and nurses.⁸⁵

Benin

In 2023, Benin had an estimated 274 rehabilitation professionals, including just five physicians specialising in physical and rehabilitation medicine, 10 speech therapists, nine orthoprosthetists, and over 250 physiotherapists.⁸³

Promoting quality rehabilitation through education and training, upskilling and professional recognition

The lack of formal recognition for rehabilitation professionals raises concerns about quality of care. In Benin, in 2021 it was estimated that the country had approximately 274 rehabilitation professionals, or 19 per 1 million inhabitants, and fewer than half worked in the formal health system.^{87,27,83} Similarly, Uganda's 2022 STARS report notes a large discrepancy between the number of working rehabilitation professionals and those officially accredited by the Uganda Allied Health Professions Council.⁸⁵ Reflecting on this issue in Haiti, one respondent commented:

"Physiotherapy is not included in the government's jobs and skills framework, leading to uncertainty about the roles and salaries of these professionals, as their duties are not clearly defined. Accreditation and recognition of their qualifications is needed to ensure the quality of services."

Anonymous, Haïti

Shortcomings in pre-service and in-service training are another recognised challenge in this sector. In Benin, the École Supérieure de Kinésithérapie in Cotonou is currently the only university-level physiotherapy qualification provider (bachelor and master's level) in all of Francophone Africa. More training is urgently needed for other rehabilitation disciplines, for instance for occupational and speech therapy.⁸⁸

Promoting skills development for rehabilitation and AT professionals is a key strategy to improve retention and optimise the quality of their work.³⁰ For those who are already working in the rehabilitation field, the creation of professional associations, degree and credentialing programmes, offering flexible arrangements including part-time study options, can help incentivise educational laddering-up, leading to increased service quality.

Creating a supportive policy environment for rehabilitation

The implementation of comprehensive rehabilitation policies and strategies, under the leadership of ministries of health, is a crucial first step towards strengthening service provision. For instance, Benin has several policies explicitly relating to rehabilitation, notably the Five-Year Rehabilitation Plan (2023-2027) and the 2020–2024 Strategic Plan for Community-Based Rehabilitation.⁸³ Similarly, in Uganda, the 2020-2025 National Comprehensive Action Plan on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities contains provisions for promoting the availability of rehabilitation services and AT, as well as initial and continued training for rehabilitation professionals.⁸⁵

Of course, for effective implementation, this also requires long-term government commitment, clear responsibilities both within government and other actors, resource mobilisation, the creation of job opportunities for rehabilitation professionals, and prioritisation of rehabilitation through earmarked funds in healthcare budgets. Additionally, robust data collection and analysis are essential to inform decision-making and ensure effective policy implementation.

Strengthening supply and stimulating demand for AT

Additionally, WHA resolution 71.8 on improving access to technology urges Member States to take comprehensive action to ensure access to quality AT at an affordable cost.⁸⁹ Strategic investment in the AT market is needed to bridge access and affordability gaps. Research has shown that market shaping strategies, aimed at balancing both supply and demand, can help bolster access in LMICs.⁹⁰ On the demand side, increasing public awareness and combatting stigma about AT, and building the capacity of health workers to screen and prescribe assistive products, are important for driving demand for AT.⁷⁷

On the supply side, interventions such as bulk purchasing, price benchmarking, and improved market information can help reduce costs and increase efficiency.^{77,90} Duty exemptions on imported products and trade agreements may be particularly effective in LMICs, where local production remains limited, but require close monitoring to ensure their intended cost-lowering effect.⁹¹ To support procurement, WHO has developed a model list of priority assistive products that are affordable and aligned with minimum quality and safety standards, which countries can adapt to their national context.⁹²

Strategies such as 3D printing (implemented by HI in Uganda through the PETRA project) have also proven effective in reducing costs. The project employs 3D-printing technology to produce custom-made orthoses and prostheses for refugees, while trained physiotherapists deliver essential rehabilitation services.⁹⁴ Indeed, to ensure quality and sustainability, AT provision must be paired with adequate training of rehabilitation professionals to oversee the provision, fitting, adaptation, and maintenance of AT.

Sustaining progress through multilevel, cross-sectoral partnerships

Strong, multisectoral partnerships are essential for building effective and sustainable rehabilitation services. Collaboration across sectors, including health, education, social protection, and labour, is needed to address the diverse and intersecting needs of individuals requiring rehabilitation and to ensure coordinated service provision.

"Working on the demand for assistive products is key. So, we need to prioritise raising awareness, developing screening mechanisms, and training health professionals to prescribe appropriate products."

Henri Bonnin, Senior programme manager, ATscale, Geneva – Switzerland

These partnerships must connect national, regional, and community actors: for instance, the Uganda Society for Disabled Children has established partnerships connecting community-based rehabilitation with health-related services, enabling coordinated service provision across multiple districts in the country.^{76.82}

Strong partnerships with government and local stakeholders are also essential to ensure the sustainability of capacity-building initiatives for the rehabilitation workforce. While development actors have often set in motion such efforts, yielding positive impacts (see case study below), long-term progress depends on national ownership and coordination to embed these efforts within existing systems.¹⁶



Case Study: Strengthening partnerships for timely and quality rehabilitation, Haiti

Over the last decade, significant strides were made to develop rehabilitation services across Haiti, including the establishment of several dedicated centres. However, since 2020, the country has faced a deteriorating security situation that has triggered the

migration of health professionals, the closure of training institutions, and a declining prioritisation of rehabilitation within national health planning. The earthquake in Haiti in August 2021 injured 12,700 people and damaged around 90 health centres, considerably increasing the need for rehabilitation.⁹³

Against this challenging backdrop, Humanity & Inclusion (HI) has been implementing the "Early, Multidisciplinary, High-Quality, and Accessible Rehabilitation for All in Haiti" Project from 2022 to 2026. HI has adopted a multifaceted strategy to strengthen the sector by building local capacity and forging strategic partnerships. Through collaboration with key local actors, including Fondation Tous Ensemble (FONTEN), the Fondation Haïtienne de Réhabilitation (FONHARE), St Michel de Jacmel Hospital, and Douleurs Sans Frontières, HI has supported the technical and operational development of rehabilitation services across five departments. Institutional stakeholders at the ministry level, such as the Ministry of Public Health and Population (MSPP) and the Ministry of National Education and Vocational Training (MENFP), and training institutions, have also been engaged.

A key coordination platform, the Comité Technique National de Réadaptation (CTNR), now brings together state and non-state actors to advance common goals for the rehabilitation sector. In addition to its coordination and technical support functions, the CTNR has also begun playing a role in revitalising the Haitian Society of Physiotherapists (SoHaPh).

At the project's midpoint, access to localised, patient-centred rehabilitation services has improved, even as demand remains high. The project has trained 17 rehabilitation professionals and 23 general community health workers. It has also laid the groundwork for institutionalising rehabilitation by mapping 50% of existing services in preparation for their integration into Haiti's national health information system. Through its role in the CTNR, HI has contributed to national advocacy efforts for the recognition of rehabilitation professions, accreditation of training programmes, and the development of job profiles.

While the initiative has delivered important gains, several barriers persist, with these including ongoing security concerns, health worker migration, and delays linked to socio-political instability. These challenges have highlighted the need for strong national ownership and sustained policy engagement. Continued collaboration through the CTNR and with training institutions will be essential if these policy commitments are to be transformed into meaningful, lasting change.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are presented for strengthening the integration of rehabilitation into health systems, addressing needs throughout people's lifetimes, and for diverse health conditions. They include specific actions for governments as well as broader recommendations for all relevant stakeholders, including international donors, NGOs and other civil society organisations.

Recognise rehabilitation as an essential health service

Governments should:

- Allocate and spend a minimum of 15% of national budgets on the health sector, as they
 committed in the Abuja Declaration, and ensure sufficient, ring-fenced funding for inclusive
 rehabilitation services.
- Formally include rehabilitation and AT in essential healthcare packages and policies, allocating dedicated and sustained public funding.
- Progressively expand health insurance coverage and social protection benefits, such as household and employment-related social insurance, child benefits, and old age pensions, to reduce OOP expenditure.⁹¹
- Develop a national list of priority AT products that are safe, affordable and meet minimum quality standardsé.

All relevant stakeholders should :

- Advocate for increased political and financial commitment to rehabilitation, including through the development of global benchmarks for the financing of rehabilitation in health budgets and coverage targets.
- **Provide** technical support, including for the development of rehabilitation plans and datadriven investment recommendations.
- **Coordinate** resource mobilisation efforts for rehabilitation infrastructure and services and ensure data is shared to prevent duplication and address coverage gaps.
- **Systematically use** disaggregated data and rehabilitation indicators in health monitoring to identify needs, users, and available services.

Provide rehabilitation in a timely manner

Governments should :

- **Ensure** early identification and referral systems for rehabilitation needs by training healthcare providers at all levels care.
- **Embed** rehabilitation in HEPR frameworks through service mapping and integrating rehabilitation personnel into emergency medical teams.

All relevant stakeholders should:

- Raise awareness of the importance of timely rehabilitation and AT among communities.
- Support governments to create a pool of qualified rehabilitation professionals to prepare and respond to emergencies and create a contingency stock of AT.
- Support the development of digital rehabilitation methods, mobile teams, and CBR strategies.

Improve access to quality rehabilitation and AT across the health system

Governments should:

- Ensure the availability and integration of rehabilitation services at all levels of care, including in primary healthcare as the foundation of UHC.
- Invest in rehabilitation at all levels of care, via decentralised service delivery models, to help reach remote and underserved populations.
- Invest in education and training for rehabilitation professionals across disciplines, and expand curricula to enable task shifting towards primary healthcare workers, where feasible.
- Foster recognition and retention of rehabilitation-skilled professionals, via accreditation, adequate working conditions and incentives to practice in rural and remote areas.
- Strengthen the governance and coordination of rehabilitation services by establishing integrated national frameworks that ensure continuity of care across service levels and types, and close gaps in referral systems to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery.

All relevant stakeholders should:

- **Continue providing** pre-service and continuous professional development training through strong local and national partnerships that encourage sustainability.
- Advocate for the recognition, upskilling, and increase of rehabilitation professionals and CBR workers.
- **Strengthen** the use of interdisciplinary teams and build capacity of primary healthcare workers to identify, treat, and refer rehabilitation needs.
- Improve access and affordability of AT by building health workforce capacity to assess and prescribe AT, increasing public awareness, and addressing stigma to drive demand, while supporting sustainable and inclusive supply chains.
- **Foster multisectoral partnerships** that connect national, regional, and community-level actors to ensure coordinated service delivery and local/ national ownership.

Ensure rehabilitation services meet gender, disability, and life cycle requirements

Governments should:

- Collect, analyse and use gender-, age-, and disability-disaggregated data in the development of national rehabilitation policies and programmes.
- Collaborate and share data across relevant ministries (e.g. health, gender, social protection, education, youth, and ageing) and with external actors to monitor whether services meet the needs of all groups.
- Design services and interventions that are gender-responsive, age-appropriate and fully accessible.

All relevant stakeholders should:

- Ensure rehabilitation programmes are accessible and acceptable to all population groups and tailored to address the needs of populations across all life stages.
- Train health professionals in inclusive practices, including gender responsiveness, disability rights, and cultural competence.
- **Promote** inclusive rehabilitation service design, including through the participation of rehabilitation users and persons with disabilities, ensuring no one is left behind.

References

1. World Health Organization. WHO Rehabilitation Need Estimator [Internet]. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. [cited 2025 Feb 16]. Available from: <u>https://vizhub.healthdata.org/rehabilitation</u>

2. World Health Organization. Ageing and health [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2025 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health</u>

3. Joint Statement "What about rehabilitation? Indispensable in the pursuit of universal health coverage!" – ISPRM [Internet]. [cited 2025 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://isprm.org/joint-statement-what-about-rehabilitation-indispensable-in-the-pursuit-of-universal-health-coverage/</u>

4. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). WHO Rehabilitation Need Estimator [Internet]. Seattle, WA: IHME, University of Washington; 2024 [cited 2025 Mar 13]. Available from: <u>https://vizhub.healthdata.org/rehabilitation/</u>

5. World Health Assembly. Strengthening rehabilitation in health systems [Internet]. WHA76.6 May 30, 2023. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA76/A76_R6-en.pdf</u>

6. Cieza A. Rehabilitation the Health Strategy of the 21st Century, Really? Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2019 Nov 1;100(11):2212–4.

7. World Health Organization. Strengthening rehabilitation in health emergency preparedness, readiness, response and resilience: policy brief [Internet]. Geneva; 2023. Available from: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/370571/9789240073432-eng.pdf?sequence=1

8. World Health Organization. Health workforce [Internet]. [cited 2025 Feb 14]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/health-workforce</u>

9. World Health Organization. Assistive technology [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2025 Mar 20]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/assistive-technology</u>

10. UN Economic and Social Council. General Comment No. 14: The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health [Internet]. UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; 2000 Aug. Report No.: E/C.12/2000/4. Available from: https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Women/WRGS/Health/GC14.pdf

11. United Nations General Assembly. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Dec 12, 2006.

12. United Nations. Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting on Universal Health Coverage "Universal health coverage: moving together to build a healthier world" [Internet]. 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.un.org/pga/73/wp-content/uploads/sites/53/2019/07/FINAL-draft-UHC-Political-Declaration.pdf</u>

13. World Health Organization. Rehabilitation 2030: A Call for Action [Internet]. 2017 Feb. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/health-topics/rehabilitation/call-for-action/rehab2030meetingreport_plain_text_version.pdf

14. Seijas V, Kiekans C, Gimigliano F. Advancing the World Health Assembly's landmark Resolution on Strengthening Rehabilitation in Health Systems: unlocking the Future of Rehabilitation. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2023 Sep 25;59(4):447–51.

15. World Health Organization. Framework for countries to achieve an integrated continuum of long-term care [Internet]. Geneva; 2021. Available from: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/349911/9789240038844-eng.pdf

16. World Health Organization Regional Office for. Increasing access to quality rehabilitation services in Africa: regional rehabilitation meeting: 21–23 November 2023, Addis Ababa. 2024 [cited 2025 Apr 2]; Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/376734

17. Mills JA, Marks E, Reynolds T, Cieza A. Rehabilitation: Essential along the Continuum of Care. In: Jamison DT, Gelband H, Horton S, Jha P, Laxminarayan R, Mock CN, et al., editors. Disease Control Priorities: Improving Health and Reducing Poverty [Internet]. 3rd ed. Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2017 [cited 2025 Feb 11]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK525298/

18. Kayes NM, Papadimitriou C. Reflecting on challenges and opportunities for the practice of person-centred rehabilitation. Clin Rehabil. 2023 Aug;37(8):1026–40.

19. Polastri M, Ciasca A, Nava S, Andreoli E. Two years of COVID-19: Trends in rehabilitation. Pulmonology [Internet]. 2022 Feb 3 [cited 2025 Feb 18]; Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8856133/</u>

20. Humanity & Inclusion. Early Rehabilitation in Conflicts and Disasters. [Internet]. 2020 Jan. Available from: <u>https://www.hi.org/sn_uploads/document/36199-Humanity--Inclusion-Clinical-Handbook-web_1.pdf</u>

21. UN News. Haitian capital's crippled health system 'on the brink' [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2025 Apr 5]. Available from: <u>https://news.un.org/en/story/2024/06/1151621</u>

22. Humanity & Inclusion. Cartographie des structures de réadaptation en Haïti. 2023.

23. Humanity & Inclusion. Freins et leviers à l'utilisation de la télé-réadaptation à travers l'expérimentation dans trois pays [Internet]. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.hi.org/sn_uploads/document/freinsetleviers_telereadaptation_re16.pdf</u>

24. World Health Organization. Global Health Expenditure Database - Country Profiles [Internet]. [cited 2025 Mar 21]. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/nha/database/country_profile/Index/en</u>

25. World Health Organization. WHO African Region. Health Expenditure Atlas 2023 [Internet]. Brazzaville; 2024. Available from: <u>https://www.afro.who.int/publications/who-african-region-health-expenditure-atlas-2023-0</u>

26. World Health Organization. Rehabilitation in health financing. Opportunities on the way to universal health coverage [Internet]. 2023. Available from: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/375712/9789240081826-eng.pdf?sequence=1

27. Ministère de la Santé, Bénin, World Health Organization. Evaluation du domaine de la readaptation au Bénin. 2019 Nov.

28. Humanity & Inclusion. Rehabilitation through a gender lens [Internet]. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.hi.org/sn_uploads/document/Rehabilitation-through-a-gender-lens-ReLABHS-</u> <u>Factsheet-2021.pdf</u>

29. Ministry of Health, Uganda, United States Agency for International Development (USAID)/Learning, Acting, and Building for Rehabilitation in Health Systems (ReLABS-HS). Uganda Rapid Assistive Technology Assessment [Internet]. Kampala; 2023. Available from: https://library.health.go.ug/sites/default/files/resources/Uganda%20rapid%20Assistive%20Techn ology%20Assessment%20Booklet%20V.3-2%20Final.pdf

30. Humanity & Inclusion. Accessing Rehabilitation Services: A Challenge To Overcome. Removing financial barriers towards universal health coverage. [Internet]. 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.hi.org/sn_uploads/document/factsheet_iFARstudy_V7-final-WEB.pdf</u>

31. Gulrajani N. Donors In A Post-Aid World January 2025 update [Internet]. ODI: Think change. 2025 [cited 2025 Mar 21]. Available from: <u>https://odi.org/en/insights/donors-in-a-post-aid-world-january-2025-update/</u>

32. Bishen S. USAID budget slashed by 83%, and other top health stories [Internet]. World Economic Forum. 2025 [cited 2025 Mar 21]. Available from: https://www.weforum.org/stories/2025/03/usaid-cut-threatens-global-health-and-other-top-health-stories/

33. Pryor W, Newar P, Retis C, Urseau I. Compliance with standards of practice for healthrelated rehabilitation in low and middle-income settings: development and implementation of a novel scoring method. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2019 Sep 11;41(19):2264–71.

34. World Health Organization. Access to rehabilitation in primary health care: an ongoing challenge [Internet]. 2018. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/325522</u>

35. Hodyl N, Mason G, Ribbons K, Bailey L, O'Malley A, Ward T, et al. Barriers and Enablers for Accessing Rehabilitation Services: Findings From the Rehabilitation Choices Study, Part 1— Healthcare Professionals' Perspectives. Health Expect. 2024 Jun 21;27(3):e14120.

36. Hasan Z, Okello G, De Groote W, Omaren A, Adair T, M Bachani A. Bridging the rehabilitation data gap in Uganda: learning through the implementation of the WHO Routine Health Information System - Rehabilitation module [Internet]. 2025 Feb. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2025.02.13.25322214v1.full.pdf

37. World Health Organization. Improving rehabilitation data in Uganda [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2025 Feb 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/improving-rehabilitation-data-in-uganda</u>

38. Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences. Person-Centred Rehabilitation – Theory, Practice, and Research [Internet]. [cited 2025 Mar 17]. <u>Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/17423/person-centred-rehabilitation---theory-practice-and-research</u>

39. Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development. Situational Analysis of Persons with Disabilities in Uganda. 2020 Sep; Available from: <u>https://www.developmentpathways.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Webready-DP1294-ESP-Disability-Uganda-Sept-2020.pdf</u>

40. World Health Organization. Child mortality and causes of death [Internet]. [cited 2025 Feb 18]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/topic-details/GHO/child-mortality-and-causes-of-death</u>

41. World Health Organization. Rehabilitation in health systems [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 2025 Feb 11]. 92 p. Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/254506

42. World Health Organization. Global report on health equity for persons with disabilities [Internet]. 2022 Dec [cited 2025 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.who.int/teams/noncommunicable-diseases/sensory-functions-disability-and-rehabilitation/global-report-on-health-equity-for-persons-with-disabilities

43. UNICEF. UNICEF Fact Sheet. Children with Disabilities [Internet]. 2022 Aug. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/sites/default/files/2022-10/GIP02115_UNICEF_Children-with-Disabilities-Factsheet-final%20-%20accessible.pdf</u>

44. Hutchinson KS. Cultural Contextualization of Disability In Uganda: New Approaches to Community-Based Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2025 Feb 19]. Available from: http://archives.northwestu.edu/handle/nu/25131

45. Ghofrani M, Parsapour A, Moghadam BA, Shojaei A. Developing Professional Ethics for Rehabilitation Professionals: A Qualitative Study.

46. United Nations General Assembly. Convention on the Rights of the Child. A/RES/44/25 Nov 20, 1989.

47. APA-Kampala (Uganda). Uganda to introduce child disability benefit [Internet]. APAnews - African Press Agency. 2025 [cited 2025 Apr 5]. Available from: <u>https://apanews.net/uganda-to-introduce-child-disability-benefit/</u>

48. United Nations Refugee Agency. Uganda [Internet]. Global Focus. [cited 2025 Apr 4]. Available from: <u>https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/operations/uganda</u>

49. Lu C, Black MM, Richter LM. Risk of poor development in young children in low-income and middle-income countries: an estimation and analysis at the global, regional, and country level. The Lancet Global Health. 2016 Dec 1;4(12):e916–22.

50. World Health Organization. Injuries and violence [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2025 Feb 18]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/injuries-and-violence</u>

51. International Labour Organization. A call for safer and healthier working environments [Internet]. 2023 Nov. Available from:

https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/files/wcmsp5/groups/public/%40ed_protect/%40protrav/%40saf ework/documents/publication/wcms_903140.pdf

52. Ott J, Champagne SN, Bachani AM, Morgan R. Scoping 'sex' and 'gender' in rehabilitation: (mis)representations and effects. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2022 Dec 16;21(1):179.

53. Handicap International. Factsheet: Maternal health and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.hi-us.org/sn_uploads/document/2017-02-factsheet-rehabilitation-maternal-health-web_1.pdf</u>

54. Mpofu E, Chronister J, Johnson ET, Denham G. Aspects of culture influencing rehabilitation and persons with disabilities. In: The Oxford handbook of rehabilitation psychology. New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press; 2012. p. 543–53. (Oxford library of psychology).

55. Aspects of Culture Influencing Rehabilitation and Persons with Disabilities [Internet]. November 2012. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286588588_Aspects_of_Culture_Influencing_Rehabilita tion_and_Persons_with_Disabilities

56. Dugarova E. Ageing, Older Persons and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [Internet]. United Nations Development Programme; 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/wp-content/uploads/sites/22/2017/08/Ageing-Older-Persons-and-2030-Agenda_Issues-Brief-low-resolution-.pdf</u>

57. World Health Organization. World Report on Ageing and Health [Internet]. 2015. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/186468/WHO_FWC_ALC_15.01_eng.pdf</u>

58. HelpAge International. Driving equitable action on NCDs and healthy ageing to achieve health for all at all ages [Internet]. 2024 Oct. Available from: <u>https://www.helpage.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/FINAL_Driving-equitable-action-on-NCDs-and-health-ageing-to-achieve-health-for-all-at-all-ages-1.pdf</u>

59. World Health Organization. GHE: Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-</u><u>estimates/ghe-life-expectancy-and-healthy-life-expectancy</u>

60. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). GBD Results [Internet]. Seattle: University of Washington; 2024 [cited 2025 Mar 30]. Available from: <u>https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/</u>

61. NCD Alliance, The George Institute. Paying the Price: A deep dive into the household economic burden of care experienced by people living with noncommunicable diseases. [Internet]. 2023. Available from:

https://ncdalliance.org/sites/default/files/resource_files/Paying%20the%20price_Report-EN.pdf

62. Eozenou PHV, Neelsen S, Smitz MF. Financial Protection in Health among the Elderly - A Global Stocktake. Health Syst Reform. 2021 Jul 1;7(2):e1911067.

63. Mohd Rosnu NS, Singh DKA, Mat Ludin AF, Ishak WS, Abd Rahman MH, Shahar S. Enablers and Barriers of Accessing Health Care Services among Older Adults in South-East Asia: A Scoping Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Jun 15;19(12):7351.

64. Seijas V, Maritz R, Mishra S, Bernard RM, Fernandes P, Lorenz V, et al. Rehabilitation in primary care for an ageing population: a secondary analysis from a scoping review of rehabilitation delivery models. BMC Health Services Research. 2024 Jan 23;24(1):123.

65. Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Sherrington C, Gates S, Clemson L, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Sep 12;2012(9):CD007146.

66. Beswick AD, Rees K, Dieppe P, Ayis S, Gooberman-Hill R, Horwood J, et al. Complex interventions to improve physical function and maintain independent living in elderly people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2008 Mar;371(9614):725–35.

67. Bean JF, Brown L, DeAngelis TR, Ellis T, Kumar VSS, Latham NK, et al. The Rehabilitation Enhancing Aging Through Connected Health Prehabilitation Trial. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2019 Nov 1;100(11):1999–2005.

68. World Health Organization. Multisectoral action for a life course approach to healthy ageing: draft global strategy and plan of action on ageing and health [Internet]. 2016 Apr. Report No.: A69/17. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/wha69/a69_17-en.pdf

69. World Health Organization. Misconceptions on ageing and health [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2025 Mar 30]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/photo-story/detail/ageing-and-life-course</u>

70. World Health Organization. Progress report on the United Nations Decade of Healthy Ageing, 2021-2023 [Internet]. 2023. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/374192/9789240079694-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>

71. Mishra S, Gosling J, Laplante-Lévesque A. 2023: The game changing year for rehabilitation in the WHO European Region? Disability and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2023 Sep 25 [cited 2025 Feb 18]; Available from: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09638288.2023.2210308</u>

72. Cieza A, Causey K, Kamenov K, Hanson SW, Chatterji S, Vos T. Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet. 2020 Dec 19;396(10267):2006–17.

73. NEGRINI S, SELB M, KIEKENS C, TODHUNTER-BROWN A, ARIENTI C, STUCKI G, et al. Rehabilitation definition for research purposes. A global stakeholders' initiative by Cochrane Rehabilitation. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2022 Mar 21;58 p333–41.

74. World Health Organization. Declaration of Astana: Global Conference on Primary Health Care: Astana, Kazakhstan, 25 and 26 October 2018. [Internet]. 2019. Available from:

https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/328123/WHO-HIS-SDS-2018.61eng.pdf?sequence=1

75. World Health Organization. Rehabilitation in Health Systems. Guide for Action. [Internet]. 2019. Available from: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/325607/9789241515986-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>

76. Waterworth CJ, Smith F, Kiefel-Johnson F, Pryor W, Marella M. Integration of rehabilitation services in primary, secondary, and tertiary levels of health care systems in low- and middle-income countries: a scoping review. Disabil Rehabil. 2024 Dec;46(25):5965–76.

77. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund. Global Report on Assistive Technology [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2025 Apr 5]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240049451

78. World Health Organization. Basic rehabilitation package, a resource for primary health care & low-resource settings [Internet]. 2019. Available from: <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/documents/health-topics/rehabilitation/basic-rehabilitation-package-information-sheet.pdf?sfvrsn=acd43a7b_3</u>

79. Van Stan JH, Dijkers MP, Whyte J, Hart T, Turkstra LS, Zanca J, et al. The Rehabilitation Treatment Specification System: Implications for improvements in research design, reporting, replication, and synthesis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2019 Jan;100(1):146–55.

80. Htwe O, Yuliawiratman BS, Tannor AY, Nor Asikin MZ, Soh E, DE Groote W, et al. Barriers and facilitators for increased accessibility to quality rehabilitation services in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2024 Jun;60(3):514–22.

81. Waterworth CJ, Smith F, Kiefel-Johnson F, Pryor W, Marella M. Integration of rehabilitation services in primary, secondary, and tertiary levels of health care systems in low- and middle-income countries: a scoping review. Disability and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2024 Dec 3 [cited 2025 Apr 1]; Available from:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09638288.2024.2317422

82. Geberemichael SG, Tannor AY, Asegahegn TB, Christian AB, Vergara-Diaz G, Haig AJ. Rehabilitation in Africa. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America. 2019 Nov 1;30(4):757–68.

83. Ministère de la Santé, Bénin. Plan Quinquennal de la Réadaptation. 2023.

84. World Health Organization. The need to scale up rehabilitation [Internet]. 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/health-topics/rehabilitation/call-for-action/need-to-scale-up-rehab-july2018.pdf?sfvrsn=f627c34c_5</u>

85. Ministry of Health, Disability and Rehabilitation Division. Systematic Assessment of Rehabilitation Situation (STARS) in Uganda [Internet]. Kampala; 2024 Feb [cited 2025 Feb 13]. Available from: https://library.health.go.ug/community-health/disability-and-rehabilitation/systematic-assessment-rehabilitation-situation-stars

86. ReLABS-HS, USAID. Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology are Essential Components of Universal Health Coverage [Internet]. 2023. Available from: <u>https://relabhs.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/12/Article-ReLAB-HS-Rehabilitation-in-UHC_Final-Formatted-.pdf

87. World Bank Open Data. Population, total - Benin [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2025 Feb 16]. Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?locations=BJ</u>

88. Bonnechère B, Kossi O, Adoukonou T, Coninx K, Spooren A, Feys P. Improving public health through the development of local scientific capacity and training in rehabilitation in LMICs: A proof-of-concept of collaborative efforts in Parakou, Benin. Front Public Health. 2022 Sep 7;10:952727.

89. World Health Assembly. Improving access to assistive technology [Internet]. May 26, 2018. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA71/A71_R8-en.pdf</u>

90. Savage M, Albala S, Seghers F, Kattel R, Liao C, Chaudron M, et al. Applying market shaping approaches to increase access to assistive technology in low- and middle-income countries. Assistive Technology [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2025 Apr 6]; Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10400435.2021.1991050

91. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA). Disability and Development Report 2024. Accelerating the realization of the Sustainable Development Goals by, for and with persons with disabilities. [Internet]. New York; 2024. Available from: https://social.desa.un.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/DDR%202024%20Full%20report%20-%20Unedited.pdf

92. World Health Organization. Assistive Product List [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2025 Apr 6]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/health-product-policy-and-standards/assistive-and-medical-technology/assistive-technology/promoting-access</u>

93. Humanity & Inclusion. Haiti: a year after the earthquake, HI continues its support to survivors | HI [Internet]. Haiti: a year after the earthquake, HI continues its support to survivors. 2022 [cited 2025 Apr 6]. Available from: <u>https://www.hi.org/en/news/haiti-a-year-after-the-earthquake-hi-continues-its-support-to-survivors</u>

94. Humanity & Inclusion, '3D Printing, A Game Changer for Humanitarian Innovation', accessed 30 April 2025, <u>https://www.hi-canada.org/en/news/-3d-printing--a-game-changer-for-humanitarian-innovation-</u>.



Published by Handicap International – Humanity & Inclusion Website: http://www.hi.org



Produced with the support of the Belgian Development Cooperation. The opinions expressed by our organisation do not necessarily represent those of the Belgian State and are not binding on it.

First published in July 2025, © Handicap International.

Handicap International is registered in France under the following references: N° SIRET: 519 655 997 00038 - Code APE: 9499Z.

This publication is copyrighted, but may be reproduced by any method without fees or prior permission for teaching purposes, but not for resale. For copying under any other circumstances, prior written permission must be obtained from the publisher, and a fee may be payable.

Cover Photo: In Haiti, HI physiotherapist supports a patient, who suffered a stroke, in the realisation of rehabilitation exercises. © C. Alzamora / HI.